RECEIVED 07-24-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2014AP001099-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MALTESE LAVELE WILLIAMS

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DENIAL OF A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON JULY 11, 2013, AND A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED ON MAY 2, 2014, BOTH IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, HON. JEFFREY A. WAGNER PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

John A. Pray State Bar No. 01019121 Daniel Tombasco, Law Student David Wilson, Law Student Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Under the instructions read to the jury, was there sufficient evidence to convict Williams of felony murder of Authur Robinson in Count 2?

Circuit court's answer: Yes.

2. Was Williams' attorney ineffective in failing to move to strike a prospective juror who stated that he/she would be

biased towards the victim upon seeing bloody photographs?

Circuit court's answer: No.

3. Was Williams' attorney ineffective in failing to object to the admission of graphic photographs showing the bodies and autopsies of the victims?

Circuit court's answer: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Williams welcomes oral argument to clarify any questions the court may have. Publication is not warranted, as this case may be resolved by applying well-established legal principles to the facts of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant in this case is Maltese Williams, and this case concerns his actions on the night of January 14, 2013. At the time, he was 18 years old and had no prior criminal record (50:4, 37). On that night, he was in the company of two acquaintances, Dajuan Collins, and Maurice Dixon, who became his co-defendants (2:1).

Shortly after 2:00 a.m., police officers were dispatched to a residential area of Milwaukee regarding reports of a shooting (46:104-05). Upon arriving, officers found the bodies of two men, Michael Parker and Authur Robinson (46:138). Robinson, found lying on the floor of the kitchen at the residence, died of a single gunshot wound to his chest and abdomen (47:93). He also had blunt force injuries and abrasions. (47:96). Parker, who lived at the residence, was

found lying in the street nearby, and had been wounded by three bullets, including one to his neck that caused his death (47:13-15, 81, 86).

Within a few days, investigators arrested Williams, Collins, and Dixon. Officers took statements from each of the men, each of whom admitted to being present during the shootings, although each differed as to various details (2:2-5).

The State originally charged Williams with two counts of felony murder, as a party to a crime (PTAC) (2:1). However, an Amended Information was later filed, charging Williams with first-degree intentional homicide (PTAC), and attempted robbery (PTAC) as to each of the two victims (5).

Williams was tried before a jury on April 22-26, 2013, Hon. Jeffrey Wagner presiding.

During *voir dire*, the prosecutor asked the prospective jurors if anyone would have a problem looking at "photographs from the scene that have blood on them, that have people deceased, people with gunshot wounds, the victims in this case." (46:54). One panelist—Juror 12—stated that such pictures would be "totally gross" such that he/she¹ could not "sit through it and make a decision in this case." (46:56) (Attached as Appendix D). Juror #12 also stated, "I think I would be biased a little bit," and that the bias would lie "more towards the victims." (46:82-83). Neither the prosecution or the defense moved to strike, so this person ultimately served on the jury (46:91). Later, at trial, the State introduced a number of photographs showing the victims' bodies from the scene of the crime, and from the autopsy (46:106-144; 47:92-102; 53). Williams' attorney made no

¹ There is no indication in the record as to the gender of Juror #12. Throughout this brief, pronouns for Juror #12 will include both genders.

objection to the admission of these photographs on the grounds that they aroused the emotions of the jury and were prejudicial to Williams.

Much of the trial consisted of the testimony of police officers as to how the investigation led to the arrests (46:153-171; 47:19-51; 48:22-25, 52-53, 61-62, and 82-85), medical testimony concerning the causes of death of Parker and Robinson (47:77-103), and police testimony about Parker's residence, and the relevant items collected as evidence from inside or near the house (46:103-153).

Williams did not testify at his trial, and the State did not elicit testimony from Collins or Dixon. There were no other witnesses to the shooting, so the primary account as to what happened during the incident came from Williams' statements to Det. Kent Corbett and other officers during a 6½ hour videotaped interview (47:113). A 37-page transcript was made of portions of the interview, which was admitted as Trial Exhibit 146 (48:39-40) (58:transcript:39-40). In addition, Det. Corbett offered his own testimony about the interview, and the jury viewed portions of the videotape (48:25-58) (58:DVD). ²

Evidence obtained from the police interrogation of Williams

Based on Williams' statement to police, he knew one of the two victims, Parker, who he referred to as "Old School." (48:34). On prior occasions, Williams had purchased marijuana from Parker (58:transcript:2).

4

² Document 58 on the record on appeal is an envelope that contains both the DVD of Williams' interview, which was viewed by the jury, and the 37 page transcript of the interview. In this brief, the DVD will be cited as 58:DVD, and the transcript as 58:transcript:[page number of the transcript].

On the night of the incident, Collins called Williams, seeking to purchase some marijuana (48:32-33). Williams agreed to introduce Collins to Parker (48:33). Dixon later joined them on the walk to Parker's house. (58:transcript:3).

Williams first told police that their only purpose in going to Parker's house was to purchase marijuana (48:33, 58:transcript:13, 16.). However, he later stated that he knew that this was going to be a robbery (a "lick") and the three would split up the marijuana (58:transcript:28). Williams said that on their way to Parker's house, he never saw a gun. (58:transcript:29). However, when asked if he knew whether anyone had a gun, he said, "I ain't slow." (58:transcript:29). Williams said that he was "just supposed to get the weed," that that no one was going to be hurt (58:transcript:29).

Upon reaching Parker's house, Dixon stayed outside while Williams and Collins knocked on the door to Parker's residence, at which time Parker greeted them and let them in (58:transcript:4). Parker then instructed Williams and Collins to wait in the living room while he went to the kitchen (58:transcript:5). While waiting for Parker, Williams noticed a man—Robinson—who was sleeping on the couch. Williams had never seen Robinson before. (58:transcript:5)

Parker then invited Williams to the kitchen to inspect the marijuana. (58:transcript:14). As Williams was speaking to Parker in the kitchen, Collins entered with a gun pointed at Parker and said something to the effect of "you all know what time it is, give that shit up." (58:transcript:14)

Parker refused to surrender his marijuana to Collins and tried walking past Collins and towards the living room. (58:transcript:14). However, Collins shot once at Parker as he walked by him and shot two to three more times at Parker

as Parker ran into the living room and out the front door. (58:transcript:14-15).

After several shots, Williams walked into the living room and saw Collins wrestling with the man who had been sleeping on the couch—Robinson—for control of the gun. (58:transcript:22). As Williams walked by, Collins said something to Williams to the effect of "Get that nigga." (58:transcript:26). Uncertain what Collins meant, Williams left Parker's house and joined Dixon, who was still waiting outside (58:transcript:24). Williams did not take any of the marijuana, but left it on the floor (58:transcript:21).

As Williams and Dixon started to leave, Williams heard another gunshot (58:transcript:15). Williams then turned around and saw Collins crash out of the front window (58:transcript:6). Afterwards, Williams and Dixon continued fleeing the area together and later regrouped with Collins at Dixon's home (48:37). After regrouping, Dixon asked Collins for his gun back, to which Collins replied that he had "ditched it somewhere." (48:37).

Verdict

At the conclusion of the trial, the court instructed the jury on two counts of first-degree intentional homicide and two counts of attempted armed robbery, both as party to a crime (49:5-7, 25-29). The court also instructed the jury on the lesser included offenses of first-degree reckless homicide, and of felony murder as to both victims (49:7-25).

The jury found Williams guilty of two counts of felony murder (Count 1 on Parker, Count 2 on Robinson). (50:2-3) In addition, the jury found Williams guilty of the attempted armed robbery of Parker (Count 3), but the court subsequently dismissed this charge since it was included

within the felony murder charge (50:7-8). Finally, the jury found Williams not guilty of the attempted armed robbery of Robinson (Count 4). (50:8).

Sentencing

On June 27, 2013, the circuit court sentenced Williams to combined terms totaling 38 years (26 years initial confinement plus 12 years extended supervision). (51:39-40) (Attached as Appendix A).

Postconviction Motion

On January 27, 2014, Williams filed a postconviction motion raising three claims:³

- 1. That there was insufficient evidence to find Williams guilty of felony murder as to Robinson since there was no evidence that Williams or his accomplices attempted to commit a robbery against Robinson (30:3).
- 2. That Williams' attorney was ineffective in failing to strike Juror #12, who admitted that viewing graphic photographs of the victim's bodies would cause him to be biased toward the victims (30:9).
- 3. That Williams's attorney was ineffective in failing to object to the State's introduction of the graphic photographs of the victim's bodies (30:12).

7

³ The postconviction motion is attached as Appendix E. It does not include the appendix to the postconviction motion because of its volume, and the fact that the contents are repeated in the appendix to the current brief.

On May 2, 2014, the circuit court issued an order denying Williams' motion for postconviction relief as to each ground (39:1) (Attached as Appendix B).

Additional facts will be presented in the Argument.

ARGUMENT

I. There was insufficient evidence to convict Williams of felony murder as to Robinson.

A. Introduction

At trial, the State presented evidence that Williams or his accomplices intended to, and then attempted to rob Michael Parker of his marijuana. However, there was no evidence that they attempted to rob the man who was sleeping on the sofa of Parker's residence when the men entered—Authur Robinson. Under the instructions read to the jury, in order to find Williams guilty of the felony murder of Robinson, it was required to find that he was guilty of the attempted robbery of Robinson. Since there was no such evidence the felony murder verdict in Count 2 must be vacated.

Whether the evidence produced at trial was sufficient to sustain a guilty verdict is set forth in *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990):

[A] court may not reverse a conviction unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*, 153 Wis. 2d at 507. If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it. *Id.*

- B. There was insufficient evidence to convict Williams of felony murder as to Robinson.
 - 1. The evidence at trial must be measured against the instructions submitted to the jury.

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence a court must be guided by the manner in which the jury is instructed on the offense. A court may only affirm a conviction "if there was sufficient evidence to support guilt on the charge submitted to the jury in the instructions." *State v. Wulff,* 207 Wis. 2d 143, 153, 557 N.W.2d 813 (1997); *See also Chiarella v. United States,* 445 U.S. 222, 236 (1980) (a court "cannot affirm a criminal conviction on the basis of a theory not presented to the jury").

In *Wulff*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that allowing a conviction based upon evidence that is unrelated to the jury instructions violates the fundamental right to a jury trial. The Court held that this violation occurs in two ways: "1) it makes the jury instructions defining the offense

superfluous, and 2) it violates the defendant's right to a unanimous verdict." *Id*.

In Wulff, the defendant was tried on a charge of second-degree sexual assault. Id. 207 Wis. 2d at 145. The victim testified that Wulff had tried to force his penis into her mouth. Id. at 146. During closing argument, the prosecutor argued that Wulff was guilty of attempted sexual contact, attempted sexual intercourse by fellatio, and attempted sexual intercourse by vulvar penetration. *Id.* at 149. On appeal, the defense argued that there was insufficient evidence to convict Wulff of sexual assault, since the jury had not been instructed on those theories advanced by the prosecutor. *Id.* at 150. Rather, the jury had been instructed that the crime required evidence of sexual intercourse, which was defined as "any intrusion, however slight, by any part of a person's body or of any object into the genital or anal opening of another." Id. at The Supreme Court found that since there was no evidence of such an intrusion, there was insufficient evidence to sustain the conviction. *Id.* at 152-53.

This court must follow the principles set forth in *Wulff* and view the evidence produced at trial in the context of the instructions given to the jury.

2. The evidence presented at Williams' trial.

At the end of Williams' trial, the court instructed the jury as to first-degree intentional homicide and first-degree reckless homicide, but then told the jury that if it was not satisfied that Williams was guilty of either of those offenses, it should consider whether he was guilty of felony murder (49:5-6, 16). The court then instructed the jury that in order to find Williams guilty of felony murder, it must find beyond

a reasonable doubt that two elements were established.⁴ The court instructed:

The first element of felony murder requires that the defendant or person with whom he was acting as a party to the crime attempted to commit the crime of armed robbery as a party to a crime. (49:17)

. . . .

The second element of felony murder requires the death of Michael Parker in Count 1 and Authur Robinson in Count 2 was caused by the attempt to commit armed robbery, party to a crime. (49:21).

The instructions specified that in order to find Williams guilty of the felony murder of Robinson (Count 2), the jury had to find that Williams (or his co-actor) intended to steal property from *Robinson:*

The elements of the crime that the state must prove are:

That Michael Parker, Count 1, and Authur Robinson, Count 2, was the owner of the property.

Owner means a person who has possession of the property. The defendant or a person with whom the defendant was acting as party to a crime took property from the person of Michael Parker, Count 1, and Authur Robinson, Count 2, the defendant or person with whom the defendant was acting as a party to a crime took the property with intent to steal.

. . . .

If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant or person with whom he was acting as a party to a crime attempted to commit the crime of armed

⁴ Appendix C contains the relevant jury instructions that were read to the jury. (49:17-23).

robbery, party to a crime, and that person – and that the death of Michael Parker, Count 1, and Authur Robinson, Count 2, was caused by the attempt to commit armed robbery, party to a crime, you should find the defendant [guilty] of felony murder.

(49:18-22) (emphasis added).

Thus, under the instructions given, in order to find Williams guilty of the felony murder of Robinson, the jury had to find that Williams was guilty of the attempted armed robbery of Robinson.

In viewing the instructions given to the jury, there was insufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to conclude that anyone attempted to commit an armed robbery against Robinson.⁵ Nearly all of the evidence regarding what happened inside Parker's house came from Williams'

The issue presented in this appeal is different than the issue presented above. The issue on appeal deals with whether there was sufficient evidence to support the felony murder count regarding Robinson (Count 2) *under the instructions given to the jury*. In his postconviction motion, Williams stated that "If this Court agrees with Williams that there was insufficient evidence to convict him on Count 2, but believes that Atty. Jensen's failure to articulate this issue has somehow waived Williams' right to raise it in this motion, then Williams submits that Atty. Jensen's representation was ineffective." (30:8). In its decision denying Williams' postconviction motion, the circuit court did not address the issue regarding whether counsel was ineffective in this regard (39).

⁵ At the close of the State's case at trial, Atty. Jensen moved the Court to dismiss Count 4, the Attempted Armed Robbery of Robinson. He argued that "there is no evidence at all that anyone attempted to take property that belonged to Mr. Robinson, much less that they used any force against him to succeed in the taking." (48:65). The State argued that there was a reasonable inference that Robinson was trying to prevent the carrying away of the marijuana" (48:72). The court agreed, stating, "I suppose that could be an inference." (48:72).

interrogation with police, but none of that implicated Williams or his co-actors in an attempted armed robbery against Robinson. Rather, that evidence consisted of the following:

a. That as he was walking to Parker's residence with Collins and Dixon, Williams learned that this was going to be a robbery of Parker's marijuana that the three men would split up (58:transcript:28)

b. That on his way to Parker's residence, Williams did not see a gun, but when asked if he knew whether anyone had a gun, he said, "I ain't slow."

(58:transcript:29).

- c. That after Parker let Williams and Collins into the house, Williams noticed a man—Robinson—who was sleeping on the couch in the living room (58:transcript:4-5). Williams had never seen Robinson before (58:transcript:5).
- d. That Parker invited Williams into the kitchen to inspect the marijuana, after which time Collins entered the kitchen with a gun pointed at Parker and said something to the effect of "you all know what time it is, give that shit up." (58:transcript:14).
- e. That Parker refused to surrender his marijuana to Collins and tried walking past Collins and towards the living room. (58:transcript:14). However, Collins shot once at Parker as he walked by him and shot two to three more times at Parker as Parker ran into the living room and out the front door. (58:transcript:14-15).

- f. That after several shots, Williams walked into the living room and saw Collins wrestling with Robinson for control of the gun. (58:transcript:22). As Williams walked by, Collins said something to Williams to the effect of "Get that nigga." (58:transcript:26).
- g. That Williams did not do anything to assist Collins in his fight with Robinson, and left the house and joined Dixon outside. (58:transcript:24).
- h. That Williams did not take any of the marijuana from the residence, but left it on the floor (58:transcript:21)
- i. That as he was leaving, Williams saw Collins crash out of the front window (58:transcript:6).
- j. That afterwards, Williams and Dixon continued fleeing the area together and later regrouped with Collins at Dixon's home (48:37).

Beyond evidence of Williams' interrogation, the State attempted to piece together a picture of what happened from physical evidence found in and near Parker's house. This consisted of:

- a) A broken-out front window from the living room of Parker's residence (46:112).
- b) A cell phone belonging to Collins, a cell-phone holder and lanyard, and a black-knit cap lying on the front yard of Parker's house (46:115, 171).
- c) Marijuana was scattered around Parker's house, some near the bathroom and some near the front

door of the house (46:123, 136). There was also a cooler in the living room with marijuana residue inside it (46:132).

- d) Bullet casings, bullet holes, and blood were in various places through the residence (46:117-144).
- e) Robinson's body was lying in the kitchen, and Parker's was lying in the nearby street (47:12, 15).

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