RECEIVED

02-05-2015 STATE OF WISCONSIN

 $I\ N\ S\ U\ P\ R\ E\ M\ E\ C\ O\ U\ R\ \ \mbox{\ref{lerk of supreme court}}$ **OF WISCONSIN**

No. 2014AP1099-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MALTESE LAVELE WILLIAMS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Williams had to specifically allege prejudice in his motion because it would be his burden to affirmatively prove by clear and convincing evidence at an evidentiary hearing that he suffered actual prejudice as the result of counsel's proven deficient performance. He could not speculate. *State* v. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 24, 63, 70. For the reasons to follow, the trial court properly held that Williams' motion failed to sufficiently allege prejudice to merit an evidentiary hearing.

D. This court's decision in *State v. Beamon* holds that the sufficiency of the evidence must be evaluated against the felony murder statute and its correct elements, and not against the erroneous jury instruction.

Williams insists that this court is bound in reviewing his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to convict him of Robinson's felony murder to the erroneous jury instruction and not to Wis. Stat. § 940.03 and its elements. This court has held precisely the opposite:

We conclude that jury instructions that add requirements to what the statute sets out as necessary to prove the commission of a crime are erroneous; and therefore, we examine the sufficiency of the evidence in this case by comparison to what the statute requires and not by comparison to an additional requirement in the jury instructions. Furthermore, jury instruction errors are subject to harmless error analysis, which we apply here. A harmless error analysis asks whether, based on the totality of the circumstances, it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury, properly instructed, would have found the defendant guilty.

State v. Beamon, 347 Wis. 2d 559, \P 3.

The only errors in the instructions occurred when the trial court defined the elements of armed robbery as they related to the crime of felony murder: That Michael Parker, Count 1, and Authur Robinson, Count 2, was [sic] the owner of the property.

The defendant or a person with whom the defendant was acting as party to a crime, took property from the person of Michael Parker, Count 1, *and* Authur Robinson, Count 2, the defendant or person with whom the defendant was acting as a party to a crime took the property with intent to steal.

. . . .

Forcibly means that the person or persons with whom the defendant was acting as a party to a crime used force against Michael Parker, Count 1, and Authur Robinson, Count 2, with the intent to overcome or prevent the physical resistance or physical power of resistance to taking and carrying away the property.

(49:19-20) (emphasis added).

The trial court should have employed the word "or" in place of the italicized word "and" to correctly instruct on felony murder liability. No one caught the mistake (or, if defense counsel did, he did not tell anyone). As discussed above, the jury only had to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Williams attempted to rob *either* Robinson *or* Parker to then find him guilty of the felony murders of both Robinson and Parker.

It is thus plain that the felony murder instruction was erroneous because it added a requirement for felony murder liability not found in Wis. Stat. § 940.03: that the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the homicide victim was also an intended victim of the predicate felony. The law is clear that, regardless who the intended victim of the predicate felony was, the defendant is guilty of felony murder if the intended victim or someone else was killed in the course of committing that felony. State v. Oimen; State v.

Rivera. The pertinent question for this court is whether the erroneous felony murder instruction was harmless.²

E. The scrivener's errors in the felony murder instruction were harmless.

It is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a properly instructed, rational jury would have found Williams guilty of Robinson's felony murder beyond a reasonable doubt.

Williams' entire challenge hangs by the slender thread that the court erroneously employed the word "and" rather than "or" in the armed robbery instructions as they related to felony murder liability. See Williams' postconviction motion at 7 n.2 (30:7 n.2; A-Ap. E:7 n.2) (conceding that had the instruction read "Robinson or Parker," then "perhaps there would have been sufficient evidence to convict Williams of the felony murder of Robinson"). That slender thread snaps under the great weight of the evidence of guilt presented by the state, all reasonable inferences therefrom, and the statutory requirements.

This court has concluded that the omission of an element of the crime from the jury instructions was harmless in light of the facts of that particular case. $State\ v$. $Gordon,\ 2003\ WI\ 69,\ \P\P\ 33-43,\ 262\ Wis.\ 2d\ 380,\ 663\ N.W.2d\ 775.$ This court held it was harmless error to give an instruction that created an unconstitutional mandatory presumption in light of the undisputed facts presented at trial because a properly instructed jury would still have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. State

² Williams concedes that, "if the instruction had required the jury to find that Williams had attempted to rob both Parker and Robinson, that would have created a new requirement not in the statute" (Williams' Br. at 21). But that is exactly what the instruction erroneously did when it told the jury it had to first find that Williams attempted to rob Parker "and" Robinson before it could find Williams guilty of Robinson's felony murder. In his own words, then, the instructions "created a new requirement not in the [felony murder] statute" – "that Williams had attempted to rob both Parker and Robinson." *Id*.

v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶¶ 47-49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189; See State v. Tomlinson, 2002 WI 91, ¶¶ 60-64, 254 Wis. 2d 502, 648 N.W.2d 367 (instructing the jury that a baseball bat is a dangerous weapon as a matter of law was harmless error in light of the facts of that case). See also State v. Oimen, 184 Wis. 2d at 449 (harmless error to give a party-to-the-crime felony murder instruction discussing direct commission of an armed burglary because there was no evidence of direct commission by Oimen when his cohort's death occurred).

In *State v. Beamon*, the jury instruction for fleeing an officer erroneously required the state to prove that the fleeing driver received a visual "and" audible signal from a marked police vehicle, whereas the fleeing statute only required it to prove he received a visual "or" audible signal from a marked police vehicle. The instruction also erroneously required the state to prove that the fleeing driver increased his speed in response to the pursuing officer's signal. 347 Wis. 2d 559, ¶¶ 15, 34-36. The fleeing statute does not require the state to prove that the suspect increased his speed. Id. ¶ 1. There was no evidence that the defendant increased his speed once the pursuit began.

This court held that the erroneous fleeing instruction was harmless because, "it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have convicted Beamon of fleeing or eluding if proper instructions had been given." *Id.* ¶ 37.

Once the reviewing court determines that the instructional error was harmless, it then evaluates the sufficiency of the evidence under the correct legal standard; not the erroneous standard as set forth in the instruction. Id. ¶¶ 19-20.

When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, we cannot rely on an erroneous statement of the statute in the jury instructions as our standard, because doing so would, in effect, allow the parties and the circuit court in that case to define an

ad hoc, common law crime. Cf. State v. Baldwin, 101 Wis. 2d 441, 446–47, 304 N.W.2d 742 (1981) (holding that conviction required proof beyond a reasonable doubt of statutory requirements of a criminal offense, rather than requirements as set forth in the complaint and information). Allowing parties or courts to establish the requirements necessary to constitute a crime is contrary to the established principle in Wisconsin that there are no common law crimes and that all crimes are defined by statute. See Wis. Stat. § 939.10 (abolishing common law crimes); Wis. Stat. § 939.12 (defining crime as "conduct which is prohibited by state law").

Id. ¶ 23.

When determining whether the instructional error was harmless, the reviewing court,

will not overturn the jury's verdict "unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt" based on the statutory requirements of the offense. See Fonte, 281 Wis. 2d 654, ¶ 10 (quoting State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Id. ¶ 20.

Beamon dictates the outcome here. It is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the scrivener's errors did not adversely affect the jury's ability to arrive at a fair and impartial verdict. State v. Harvey, 254 Wis. 2d 442, \P 44. See State v. Stuart, 2005 WI 47, $\P\P$ 40-41, 279 Wis. 2d 659, 695 N.W.2d 259; State v. Weed, 2003 WI 85, \P 29, 263 Wis. 2d 434, 666 N.W.2d 485.

The trial court properly instructed the jury that one is guilty of felony murder if someone is killed in the course of attempting to commit armed robbery (49:17, 21-22). As discussed above, the parties also correctly understood the breadth of liability under § 940.03 (49:45, 52, 64-65). See State v. Beamon, 347 Wis. 2d 559, ¶ 38 ("it may be said that the effect of the erroneous instructions were [sic] ameliorated by the jury having heard multiple correct statements of the law").

As did the erroneous fleeing instruction in *Beamon*, the felony murder instruction here forced the state to prove *more* than what § 940.03 required.

If an error that relieves the State of part of its burden can be harmless, then, logically, a jury instruction that directs the State to prove *additional* requirements also may be subjected to a harmless error analysis. *See Zelenka*, 130 Wis. 2d at 48–49, [387 N.W.2d 55]; *State v. Courtney*, 74 Wis. 2d 705, 715–16, 247 N.W.2d 714 (1976).

$Id. \ \P \ 25$ (emphasis in original).

It is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that Williams would have been convicted absent the instructional error that, as in *Beamon*, imposed an additional requirement for felony murder liability on the state. *Id.* ¶¶ 27, 37.

Williams does not dispute that the state presented overwhelming evidence of the attempted armed robbery of Parker. Had the trial court correctly employed "or" in the instruction, the jury would no doubt have found Williams guilty of the felony murder of Robinson during the course of committing the attempted armed robbery of Parker. The jury would have done so even if it believed that Robinson was not being robbed, or was not the "owner" of any of the marijuana strewn about the house.³ Williams put on no defense other

 $^{^3}$ $But\ see$ Wis. Stat. § 943.32(3) (Robinson would be the "owner" of any marijuana he possessed, even if illegally).

than to argue, successfully, that the state failed to meet its burden of proving him guilty of first-degree intentional homicide and first-degree reckless homicide beyond a reasonable doubt.

A properly instructed rational jury would have found Williams guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of the felony murder of Robinson. One need only compare the overwhelming evidence presented at trial with the correct statutory requirements for felony murder liability to arrive at that conclusion. *State v. Beamon*, 347 Wis. 2d 559, ¶ 28. *See* Wis. JI-Criminal 1031. The evidence was sufficient for a properly instructed, rational jury to convict Williams of felony murder.

It necessarily follows that Williams failed to prove prejudice from counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's correct statement of felony murder law in his closing argument, and from counsel's failure to move to dismiss the felony murder count with respect to Robinson at the close of the state's case or upon return of the verdict. Moreover, had counsel timely objected, arguing that the state was bound to the erroneous instruction, the court would have immediately corrected that instruction (changing "and" to "or") to bring it into conformity with the law. *See State v. Gordon*, 262 Wis. 2d 380, ¶ 41.4

-

⁴ The trial court also found any error harmless because it determined there was sufficient evidence of an attempt to rob Robinson of marijuana (39:2; A-Ap. B:2). This was so even though the jury returned a verdict finding Williams not guilty of attempting to rob Robinson (50:3). The jury returned that verdict in disregard of the court's specific instruction not to fill out the verdict form for attempted robbery if it had already found Williams guilty of felony murder (49:22). Although an argument could be made that, despite the jury's contrary verdict, a rational jury could have found Williams guilty of attempting to rob Robinson of marijuana, see State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990), the state is not pursuing that separate argument here because there is little room for it to challenge the court of appeals' observation in its certification that, "we see no evidence to support a finding that Robinson had a possessory or other ownership interest in the marijuana." Certification at 2 n.3 (A-Ap. F:2 n. 3). Robinson may very well have been just an innocent house guest.

F. The outcome of this appeal is controlled by State v. Beamon, not by State v. Wulff.

In requesting certification, the court of appeals perceived a conflict between this court's decisions in *State v. Beamon* and *State v. Wulff*, that does not exist.

First and foremost, as pointed out in its Beamon decision, this court did not consider the question of harmless error in Wulff. $State\ v$. Beamon, 347 Wis. 2d 559, ¶ 46. That crucial fact alone materially distinguishes the two. Secondly, unlike Beamon and here, the jury instructions in Wullf correctly set forth the law.

Mr. Wulff went to trial on a charge of attempted second-degree sexual assault. The state's theory was that Wulff attempted to engage in "sexual intercourse" with a person he knew to be unconscious. The trial court correctly instructed the jury that "sexual intercourse" means the intrusion of "any part of a person's body or of any object into the genital or anal opening of another." *State v. Wulff*, 207 Wis. 2d at 145, (quoting Wis. Stat. § 940.225(5)(b) and (c)). There was no evidence adduced at trial that Wulff inserted his penis, another body part or any object into the unconscious victim's vagina or anus.

There was some evidence that Wulff may have inserted, or attempted to insert, his penis into the victim's mouth just before she awoke. *Id.* at 146. Fellatio is a legally recognized third alternative form of "sexual intercourse," and the state argued attempted intercourse by fellatio to the jury. *Id.* at 149. But the jury was never instructed that fellatio is a third alternative form of sexual intercourse. *Id.* at 148. The jury found Wulff guilty "of sexual assault as charged in the Information." *Id.* at 149.

Wulff challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to convict him of attempted sexual assault by genital or anal penetration. *Id.* This court on review could not tell whether

the jury's verdict finding Wulff guilty of sexual intercourse was based on a finding that he engaged in vaginal or anal intercourse, a finding not supported by sufficient evidence at trial, *id.* at 149, 152; or on a finding that he committed fellatio, for which there was evidentiary support and argument by the prosecutor, but no instruction that fellatio was an alternative form of sexual intercourse. *Id.* at 151, 152-53. This court concluded:

The evidence before the jury did not support a finding of guilt on attempted genital or anal intrusion, and the general verdict leaves us uncertain as to under what theory the jury found guilt. We can uphold Wulff's conviction only if there was sufficient evidence to support guilt on the charge submitted to the jury in the instructions.

Id. at 153.

A harmless error argument, had it been made in *Wulff*, would have been a tough sell for two reasons:

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